March 15, 2024

Hon. Merrick B. Garland Hon. Alejandro N. Mayorkas

Attorney General Secretary

U.S. Department of Justice U.S. Department of Homeland Security
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 301 7th Street, SW

Washington, DC 20530 Washington, DC 20528

By email

Re:  Recommendations for Final Asylum Processing Rule
Dear Attorney General Garland and Secretary Mayorkas:

The undersigned immigrants’ rights and legal services organizations are dedicated to the fair,
orderly, and humane processing of those seeking asylum in the United States, including
individuals and families whose asylum claims are adjudicated under the March 2022 Interim
Final Rule, Procedures for Credible Fear Screening and Consideration of Asylum, Withholding
of Removal, and CAT Protection Claims by Asylum Officers (“Interim Final Rule).! We write
to follow up on the recommendations in our August 12, 2022 letter regarding increasing access
to counsel for individuals and families processed under the Interim Final Rule.? Additionally, we
urge the Departments of Justice and Homeland Security to publish a final rule incorporating
recommendations to uphold and upgrade asylum.® Finally, we request a meeting to discuss our
recommendations for increasing access to counsel in Part II.

Instead of expending resources to expand expedited deportation processes, the Biden-Harris
Administration should embrace processing these claims in full accordance with the United
States’ commitments under international law. The failure to fully process protection claims is
counterproductive, as demonstrated by Title 42 and the Migrant Protection Protocols’
contribution to an increase in irregular crossings and the humanitarian consequences of creating
a semi-permanent refugee population along the U.S.-Mexico border.

l. Recommendations for a Final Rule

The Departments should incorporate the following revisions into any final rule they publish to
achieve their goal of “increas[ing] the promptness, efficiency, and fairness of the process.”
Evidence from the first year of the Interim Final Rule’s operation has demonstrated that many of

1 87 Fed. Reg. 18,078 (March 29, 2022), https://www.federalregister.gov/d/2022-06148 [hereinafter
APR].

2 Letter to Sec. Mayorkas, Dep’t of Homeland Sec., et al. (Aug. 12, 2022),
https://humanrightsfirst.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/08 /AsylumProcessingRuleLetter.8.12.2022.pdf.
3 Human Rights First, Comment on DHS Docket No. USCIS—2021-0012, at 11-13, 17-18, 23-24, 29-30
(May 31, 2022), https://www.regulations.gov/comment/USCIS-2021-0012-5321 [hereinafter HRF
Comment] (providing suggested redline revisions); Human Rights First, Upholding And Upgrading
Asylum: Recommendations for the Biden Administration (Oct. 2023), https://humanrightsfirst.org/wp-

content/uploads/2023/10/Upholding-and-Upgrading-Asylum Recommendations.pdf.
4 APR at 18,089.
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its features have become counterproductive to its stated purpose.® Ways to improve the Interim
Final Rule include:

e Eliminating the arbitrary and unworkable deadlines for scheduling Asylum Merits
Interviews (“AMI”) and instead requiring that AMIs should be scheduled no fewer than
90 days after a credible fear determination or release from government custody.® The
current, very short deadlines impose a structural barrier to accessing counsel, leading to
inaccurate decisions and unnecessary referrals to Immigration Court.’

e Eliminating the arbitrary, rushed deadlines imposed on Immigration Court proceedings
under 8 C.F.R. 8 1240.17 and restoring full Immigration Court proceedings under 8
U.S.C. § 1229a for individuals processed under the Interim Final Rule.® The blistering
pace of Immigration Court proceedings required by the Interim Final Rule similarly
impedes access to counsel, with only 41% of individuals subject to streamlined
proceedings under the Interim Final Rule through March 31, 2023, represented by
counsel.®

e Consistent with Congress’ one-year asylum filing deadline, requiring the Asylum Office
to consider requests for rescheduling and extensions of evidentiary filing deadlines within
the first year of an applicant's most recent date of entry.'° This will help in reducing
erroneous referrals from the Asylum Office to the Immigration Courts.*

e Eliminating the seven-day deadline for filing and restriction to one request for
reconsideration to the Asylum Office, and instead fully restoring the unrestricted
authority of the Asylum Office to reconsider its negative credible fear determinations.*?
This deadline has led to clearly erroneous denials unrelated to the merits of an
individual’s asylum claim.*3

5 Human Rights First, Asylum Processing Rule at One Year: Urgent Fixes Needed to Provide Fair,
Efficient and Humane Adjudications (June 2023), https://humanrightsfirst.org/wp-
content/uploads/2023/06/Asylum Processing Rule One Year Report June-2023.pdf [hereinafter
Asylum Processing Rule at One Year].

6 APR at 18,216 (codified at 8 C.F.R. § 208.9(a)(1)).
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Andrew I. Schoenholtz, The New Border Asylum Adjudication System: Speed, Fairness, and the
Representation Problem, 66 How. L.J. 571, 616-21 (2023).
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10 Philip G. Schrag, Andrew I. Schoenholtz & Jaya Ramji-Nogales, Rejecting Refugees: Homeland
Security’s Administration of the One-Year Bar to Asylum, 52 Wm. & Mary L. Rev. 651, 671-72 (2010)
(detailing Congress’ rejection of a 30-day deadline in favor of a one-year deadline for filing applications
for asylum).

11 Cora Wright, Erroneous Asylum Office Referrals Delay Refugee Protection, Add to Backlogs, Human
Rights First (Apr. 19, 2022), https://humanrightsfirst.org/library/erroneous-asylum-office-referrals-
delay-refugee-protection-add-to-backlogs.
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The potential positive benefits of the Interim Final Rule are threatened by its use within the
context of Expedited Removal, specifically by its conditioning of eligibility for an AMI on a
positive credible fear determination.** The Expedited Removal system is inherently flawed,

with excessive, documented due process failings that have resulted in the return of individuals
with bona fide asylum claims to their persecution and death.'® Even noncustodial credible fear
interviews allowed for under the Interim Final Rule, as part of the Family Expedited Removal
Management program (“FERM”), have been counterproductive to the Interim Final Rule’s goal
of fairness and efficiency.® Only 2.6% of families enrolled in FERM secured representation
before their credible fear interviews as of November 22, 2023, according to data obtained from
DHS.Y

. Recommendations for Increasing Meaningful Access to Counsel

In addition to the recommendations for a final rule, we urge you to implement the
recommendations we previously submitted in our letter of August 12, 2022, to increase access to
counsel now. Those recommendations included:

1. Making publicly available template documents used or provided to individuals processed
under the Interim Final Rule, including documents that accompany service of a positive
credible fear determination, like Form 1-870, Record of Determination/Credible Fear
Worksheet Form and G-56, Asylum Merits Interview Notice, an orientation form specific
to the Interim Final Rule, and a Form 1-589 receipt notice.

2. Eliminating the Asylum Office’s Form G-28 applicant-signature requirement to reduce
barriers to representation. We are encouraged by Immigration and Customs
Enforcement’s beta testing of an electronic filing system for Form G-28.

3. Issuing guidance regarding the availability of equitable tolling of deadlines, including the
Interim Final Rule’s seven-day deadline to submit a request for reconsideration of a
negative credible fear determination.'® Additionally, USCIS should consider the inability
to secure representation as an exigent circumstance for the purpose of rescheduling an
AMI and as good cause for continuances and extensions of filing deadlines.*®

14 Id. at 16-18.

15 HRF Comment, supra note 3, at 24-25 (citing Elizabeth Cassidy & Tiffany Lynch, U.S. Comm’n on Int’l
Religious Freedom, Barriers to Protection: The Treatment of Asylum Seekers in Expedited Removal
(2016), https://www.uscirf.gov/sites/default/files/Barriers%20To0%20Protection.pdf).

16 APR at 18,220 (codified at 8 C.F.R. § 253.3(b)(4)(ii)); Cindy Woods, Am. for Immigrant Justice, The
Family Expedited Removal Management Program (FERM): A Three-Month Assessment 5 (Sept. 7, 2023),
https://aijustice.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/FERM-Report-Americans-for-Immigrant-Justice-
2023.pdf.

17 Office of Congresswoman Pramila Jayapal, Jayapal, Barragan Inquiry Reveals 2.6% of Immigrant
Families in Removal Process Have Legal Counsel (Jan 11, 2024),
https://jayapal.house.gov/2024/01/11/jayapal-barragan-inqui
removal-process-have-legal-counsel.

18 APR at 18,219 (codified at 8 C.F.R. § 208.30(g)(1)(i)); Letter to Sec’y Mayorkas, supra note 2, at 3 n.1
(cataloging cases holding equitable tolling can apply to statutory deadlines).

19 APR at 18,216, 18,225 (codified at 8 C.F.R. §§ 208.9(a)(1)) and 1240.17(h)).
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4. Promptly sharing with legal service providers information about individuals processed
under the Interim Final Rule to facilitate Know-Your-Rights presentations and ensure
asylum seekers have access to legal information regarding the process.

5. Distributing to individuals subject to the Interim Final Rule a flier with non-governmental
organization legal resources to facilitate representation for asylum seekers.

6. Establishing a Request for Reconsideration Quality Assurance Review Process to
promote uniformity of adjudication.

Thank you for your consideration of our recommendations. We look forward to specifically
discussing our recommendations to increase access to counsel and request the opportunity to
meet with officials from your Departments. Please contact Robyn Barnard at Human Rights First
(BarnardR@humanrightsfirst.org) to let us know how best to proceed with scheduling a meeting.

Sincerely,

Americans for Immigrant Justice

Capital Area Immigrants' Rights (CAIR) Coalition
Center for Gender & Refugee Studies

Church World Service

Coalition for Humane Immigrant Rights (CHIRLA)
ECDC

Florence Immigrant & Refugee Rights Project
Fordham Law School Feerick Center for Social Justice
Human Rights First

Immigrant Defenders Law Center

International Refugee Assistance Project (IRAP)
International Rescue Committee

ISLA

National Immigrant Justice Center

National Immigration Project

Public Counsel

The Advocates for Human Rights

Witness at the Border

Women's Refugee Commission

cc: The Honorable Ur M. Jaddou, Director, U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services
The Honorable David L. Neal, Director, Executive Office for Immigration Review
The Honorable Rachel Rossi, Director, Office of Access to Justice
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